FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/18/2019 4:31 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97682-1
Court of Appeals No. 51677-2-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NORTHWEST ALLOYS, INC., and MILLENNIUM BULK TERMINALS-LONGVIEW, LLC,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES, and THE HONORABLE HILARY S. FRANZ, and COLUMBIA RIVERKEEPER, WASHINGTON ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, and SIERRA CLUB,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents.

RESPONDENTS'/CROSS-APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

NOSSAMAN LLP

Linda R. Larson, WSBA #9171 719 Second Avenue, Suite 1200 Seattle, WA 98104

Telephone: +1 206 395 7633

K&L GATES LLP

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Northwest Alloys, Inc. ("NWA") and Millennium Bulk Terminals-Longview, LLC ("MBT-Longview") (collectively, "Petitioners"), Respondents/Cross-Appellants below, seek review as outlined below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' published decision in *Northwest Alloys, Inc., et al. v. State of Washington Department of Natural Resources, et al.*, No. 51677-2-II, __ Wn. App. ___, P.3d ____, 2019 WL 3927428 (2019) ("*NWA*"), filed by the Court of Appeals on August 20, 2019. A copy of the decision is included in Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where the Department of Natural Resources (the "Department") enters into an aquatics lands lease, is the agency's conduct under the lease bound by Washington contract law as if it were a private party, or do the agency's statutory mandates modify how the contract is interpreted and enforced?
- 2. What is the standard for determining whether the Department unreasonably denied consent to sublease under an aquatics lands lease, which states that the Department's consent "shall not be unreasonably denied or withheld," and what is the appropriate remedy for an unreasonable denial?

- 3. Under RCW 79.02.030, what is the appropriate standard of review to be applied (1) by a superior court reviewing a decision the Department made pursuant to a specific provision in an aquatics lands lease; and (2) by an appellate court reviewing the decision of the superior court?
- 4. Does substantial evidence support the trial court's finding that the Department unreasonably denied consent for NWA to sublease aquatic lands to MBT-Longview?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Aquatic Lands Lease.

In 2008, the Department and NWA entered into a 30-year renewal of NWA's long-standing lease of state-owned aquatic lands adjacent to NWA's 540-acre upland industrial property in Longview, Washington (the "Lease"). AR001525; AR005832; AR005905. Since the 1960s, NWA and its predecessor, Reynolds Metals Company, used a dock on the leased aquatic lands to transship materials needed for their aluminum smelting businesses. AR000151.

Section 9 of the Lease authorizes NWA to sublease the aquatic lands with the Department's prior written consent. AR001546. In considering whether to consent, the Lease provides that the Department "may consider, among other things, the proposed transferee's financial condition, business reputation and experience, the nature of the proposed transferee's business, the then-current value of the Property, and such other factors as may reasonably bear upon the suitability of the transferee

as a tenant of the Property." *Id.* NWA and the Department agreed in Section 9 that the Department's consent to a sublease "shall not be unreasonably conditioned or withheld." *Id.*

B. Procedural Background.

On October 28, 2010, NWA requested permission to sublease the aquatic lands to MBT-Longview. AR005787–88. MBT-Longview operated a bulk materials transfer facility on NWA's upland property (including for alumina used in the Wenatchee smelter owned by NWA's parent company, Alcoa). AR000149; AR000139; AR000134. MBT-Longview also proposed expanding its operations by building a coal export facility on the NWA property and was seeking permits for such a facility. AR005787–88. The Department opposed the coal terminal project in a separate environmental review process. AR001407.

Six years later, following protracted negotiations and detailed responses by NWA and MBT-Longview to numerous Department requests for financial and other information about MBT-Longview and its proposed use of the aquatic lands, the Commissioner of Public Lands notified NWA by letter on January 5, 2017 that the Department had denied NWA's request to sublease to MBT-Longview. AR001509–11. Despite years of agency process, the Commissioner professed to not have sufficient information to evaluate the sublease request, explaining that "DNR's decision is based on Northwest Alloys' failure to provide requested information regarding the financial condition and business of [MBT-Longview] as well as other factors that bear on the suitability of [MBT-Longview] as well as other factors that bear on the suitability of [MBT-

Longview] as a subtenant." AR001509. The Commissioner pointed only to the Department's most recent information requests seeking MBT-Longview's audited financial statements and the ground lease between NWA and MBT-Longview for NWA's upland property, a site which DNR does not own or control. AR001509–10.

The Commissioner contended that the Department's request for this information was reasonable, because (1) one of MBT-Longview's prior owners, Arch Coal, had recently filed for bankruptcy; (2) MBT-Longview had financial obligations to NWA under the ground lease; (3) market conditions in the coal industry were poor; (4) NWA's prior subtenant, Chinook Ventures, had defaulted on its lease obligations; and (5) MBT-Longview did not have a lengthy track record on which to judge performance. AR001511. The Commissioner, however, did not state that any of these factors themselves were the basis for denying consent to the sublease. AR001509–11.

NWA and MBT-Longview timely appealed DNR's decision to the Cowlitz County Superior Court under RCW 79.02.030, on the ground that DNR had unreasonably withheld its consent in violation of the Lease. CP 1. Columbia Riverkeeper, Washington Environmental Council, and Sierra Club (collectively, "Riverkeeper") intervened. CP 14465–67. RCW 79.02.030 states that "hearing and trial of said appeal in the superior court shall be de novo before the court, without a jury, upon the pleadings and papers [certified by the Department], but the court may order the pleadings to be amended, or new and further pleadings to be filed." The certified

agency record contained over 14,000 pages of documents, which the Department compiled during its six-year review of NWA's request. CP 87–14295.

On October 27, 2017, after receiving briefing from the parties, the trial court held a hearing on the merits of the appeal. At the hearing, the court ruled that, notwithstanding the plain language of RCW 79.02.030, its review of the Commissioner's decision was not de novo, but limited to considering whether the decision was arbitrary and capricious. CP 17689, ¶ 4. The court found that the Department's denial of consent was arbitrary and capricious, because the Department denied consent based on NWA's failure to provide documents that were irrelevant to the Department's stated concerns. CP 17689-693. The court's ruling is memorialized in the November 29, 2017 Order on the Merits. CP 17687-97. The court reserved its ruling on the appropriate remedy, CP 17693, ¶ 16, but later entered an order directing the Department to undertake further consideration of the sublease request and to file a new or amended pleading within 60 days with the court indicating whether it had granted or denied the request. CP 17814-17. The Department and Riverkeeper appealed the court's decision on the merits and the remedy order. CP 17743-56, CP 17761-74, CP 17818-24, CP 17830-36. Petitioners crossappealed. CP 17784-97, CP 17843-49.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's ruling on the merits. *NWA*, 2019 WL 3927428, at *11. The Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court that, in denying the sublease request, DNR was

exercising discretion in its administrative capacity, and so its decision should be reviewed under an arbitrary and capricious standard. *Id.* at *7. The Court of Appeals held that, notwithstanding the parties' use of a contractual term of art in Section 9 of the lease, DNR "cannot contract itself out of its statutorily mandated duty to exercise discretion in furtherance of the public trust." *Id.* Rather than a decision controlled by its covenants to NWA, DNR's denial of consent "was a uniquely administrative decision left to DNR by virtue of the Washington State Constitution and the aquatic lands statutes." *Id.*, at *7–8.

The Court of Appeals disagreed, however, with the trial court's finding that DNR's denial of consent to sublease was arbitrary and capricious. *Id.* at *8–10. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order on the merits, vacated the remedy order, and directed the trial court to issue an order affirming the Department's denial. *Id.* at *11.

V. ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent, and involves issues of substantial public interest, and therefore the Court should accept discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4). The decision conflicts with this Court's longstanding precedent holding that public agencies are treated the same as private parties in enforcing the terms of written contracts, and conflicts with precedent regarding the appropriate standard of review. Similarly, the decision conflicts with the majority view, adopted by the Court of Appeals, that the contract term "not unreasonably withheld" is weighed

against an objective standard. The decision also involves issues of substantial public interest concerning the appropriate remedy for a breach of such a provision. In addition, lower courts and the public would benefit from this Court's guidance as to the mechanics of appeals pursuant to RCW 79.02.030, a statute that is unclear in several significant respects.

A. By creating one standard for the Department and another for private parties in contract enforcement, the Court of Appeals ignored this Court's longstanding precedent.

Although this case is procedurally an appeal from the Commissioner's decision, in substance it is an action by NWA to enforce its contract with the Department. Its resolution should have followed this Court's consistent command that contracting agencies are treated on the same footing as contracting private parties. Instead, the Court of Appeals established a new doctrine for interpreting proprietary government contracts with private parties. Under this new doctrine, where a government agency enters into a contract in its proprietary capacity, a reviewing court must interpret and enforce that contract in a manner that is deferential to the agency's statutory mandates and inconsistent with the terms of the contract.

This new doctrine not only conflicts with longstanding precedent of this Court, it undermines the fundamental purpose of the law of contracts: to protect society's reliance interest in the performance of promises. *Alejandre v. Bull*, 159 Wn. 2d 674, 682, 153 P.3d 864 (2007) ("[C]ontract law is concerned with society's interest in performance of

promises. . .") (internal citations omitted). The Court of Appeals' decision not only impacts NWA, but also creates uncertainty for all tenants on state-owned aquatic lands about how standard contractual terms, such as a provision stating that consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, will be interpreted and enforced. The Court of Appeals has effectively re-written all of those leases, thereby changing the bargains made by existing tenants with the Department.

For over a century, this Court has consistently held that where the state is a party to a contract in its proprietary capacity, it is treated the same as any other private party. Long ago this Court declared that, when it comes to contracts, "[t]here is not one law for the sovereign and another for the subject." *State ex rel. Gillette v. Clausen*, 44 Wn. 437, 441, 87 P. 498 (1906) (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, "whenever the contract in any form comes before the courts, the rights and obligations of the contracting parties must be adjusted upon the same principles as if both contracting parties were private persons." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also State ex rel. Wash. Paving Co. v. Clausen*, 90 Wn. 450, 452, 156 P. 554 (1916) ("We have repeatedly held that in its business relations with individuals the state must not expect more favorable treatment than is fair between men.").

This Court has specifically applied this principle to the Department when it enters into contracts related to state-owned aquatic lands, as the Department did with NWA in this case. *See Metro. Park Dist. of Tacoma v. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 85 Wn.2d 821, 539 P.2d 854 (1975). In

Metropolitan Park, the Court held that "when the State undertakes to dispose of public lands, either by lease or sale, it then acts in its proprietary capacity," and, when so acting, "it will receive no better treatment than any two private individuals who bring their dispute before the courts for final resolution." Id. at 827–28. Thus, in that case, the Department could not escape the application of equitable estoppel merely because it was the government. Id.

This line of precedent is consistent with a fundamental purpose of contract law: to protect reasonable expectations induced by a promise:

Agreements can accomplish little, either for their makers or for society, unless they are made the basis for action. When business agreements are not only made but are also acted on, the division of labor is facilitated, goods find their way to the places where they are most needed, and economic activity is generally stimulated. These advantages would be threatened by any rule which limited legal protection to the reliance interest.

1 Corbin on Contracts § 1.1 (2019).

The Court should accept review to correct the Court of Appeals' departure from well-settled precedent and reaffirm the fundamental purpose of contract law. Contracts simply cannot work without protecting the parties' bargained-for expectations. *See id.* Otherwise parties may question the utility of entering into an aquatic lands lease with the Department, or any contract with any agency, if an agency's statutory mandates can serve to impart new meaning to contract terms many years after agreement was reached by the parties.

B. The Court of Appeals improperly created unique standards for determining the reasonableness of conduct by the Department.

The Court of Appeals' decision calls into question not only the standards for interpreting and enforcing contracts with the Department, but also the standards by which Washington courts will review the Department's decisions pursuant to a contract.

First, a lease provision stating that the landlord shall not "unreasonably" withhold consent is a contract term of art with legal meaning upon which NWA could reasonably rely in negotiating that term. While this Court has not squarely addressed it, the Court of Appeals follows the "majority of jurisdictions" in holding that:

a lease term preventing a landlord from 'unreasonably' withholding consent requires a reviewing court to examine whether a reasonably prudent person in the landlord's position would have withheld consent to the assignment, not whether the landlord acted arbitrarily.

Ernst Home Ctr., Inc. v. Sato, 80 Wn. App. 473, 483–84, 910 P.2d 486 (1996). This is an objective standard that leaves no room for a landlord's subjective discretion. See id. at 486 (any of the landlord's subjective concerns must also be "objectively reasonable"). This is the standard the Department and NWA agreed to in the Lease by including the provision in Section 9.1 stating that DNR's consent "shall not be unreasonably conditioned or withheld." As Ernst recognizes, id. at 484, the Department and NWA were free to negotiate a different standard. They did not.

The Court of Appeals' decision effectively strikes out the reasonableness clause that NWA agreed to when it executed the Lease in

2008. Notwithstanding the plain terms of Section 9.1, the Department is no longer held to an objectively reasonable standard; instead, the Department's decision whether to deny consent is a "uniquely administrative decision" that the Department "cannot contract itself out of" and is reviewed under an "arbitrary and capricious" standard. *See NWA*, 2019 WL 3927428, at *7–8.

The Court of Appeals' decision thus commits the very error that a century of Supreme Court precedent has condemned: it has created one law for the sovereign, and one for the subject, with the sovereign enjoying preferential treatment. Henceforth, a reasonableness clause means one thing in a lease between private parties, and means something very different in a lease from the Department. That outcome cannot be squared with *Metropolitan Park*, 85 Wn.2d at 821, *State ex rel. Gillette*, 44 Wn. at 441; or *State ex rel. Wash. Paving Co.*, 90 Wn. at 452. Indeed, the Court of Appeals did not even address any of that precedent.

Second, the Court of Appeals' holding that its standard of review on appeal was de novo conflicts with this Court's precedent for several reasons. The determination of whether a landlord unreasonably withholds consent to the assignment of a lease is a question of fact that cannot be disturbed on appeal if it is supported by substantial evidence. *Roundup Tavern, Inc. v. Pardini*, 68 Wn.2d 513, 515, 413 P.2d 820 (1966). In applying a de novo review to that precise question under NWA's aquatic lands lease, the Court of Appeals has once again created a special set of

rules for the Department that simply would not apply if a private landlord was the defendant.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals' application of a de novo standard of review on appeal conflicts with this Court's decision in *Dolan v. King County*, 172 Wn.2d 299, 310–311, 258 P.3d 20 (2011). In *Dolan*, this Court held that even if a trial court's decision was based on a written record, a de novo standard of review on appeal is not appropriate in all instances. *Id.* Instead, this Court explained that the substantial evidence standard is more appropriate than a de novo standard "even if the credibility of witnesses is not specifically at issue, in cases such as this where the trial court reviewed an enormous amount of documentary evidence, weighed that evidence, resolved inevitable evidentiary conflicts and discrepancies, and issued statutorily mandated written findings." *Id.* at 311. In *Dolan*, the trial court reviewed an entirely written record of over 6,000 pages and had to resolve conflicting assertions. *Id.* This Court held that, under those circumstances, the substantial evidence standard was more appropriate than the de novo review standard. *Id.*

Here, the trial court reviewed a 14,000-plus page record, more than double the record in *Dolan*. As in *Dolan*, the trial court was required to resolve conflicting evidence and rendered extensive findings and conclusions.

Despite these facts, the Court of Appeals held that substantial evidence review was not required, because the trial court "did not weigh evidence or resolve evidentiary conflicts," and because the court was not

"statutorily required to enter written findings of fact." *NWA*, 2019 WL 3927428, at *6. Respectfully, those conclusions are incorrect. The trial court was required by Civil Rule 52 to prepare findings and conclusions. Moreover, the trial court did resolve conflicts in the evidence when, for example, it determined that the Department had abandoned its objection to MBT-Longview as a subtenant based on its 2010 permitting actions. *See* CP 17691, ¶8; CP 17693, ¶14. Indeed, the trial court was required to undertake these tasks in order to make a reasonableness determination, which in all other contract disputes is a question of fact. *See Roundup Tavern*, 68 Wn.2d at 515. To proceed otherwise again creates one rule for the sovereign and another for private parties.

The Court of Appeals' application of a de novo standard of review also conflicts with its own precedent in *Hendrickson v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 343, 351, 409 P.3d 1162, *review denied*, 190 Wn.2d 1030 (2018). Under RCW 79.02.030, "[a]ny party feeling aggrieved by the judgment of the superior court may seek appellate review as in other civil cases." In *Hendrickson*, the Court of Appeals held that a statute providing for review by the appellate courts "as in other civil cases" meant that appellate courts should apply a substantial evidence standard of review. *Hendrickson*, 2 Wn. App. at 351. In *NWA*, the Court of Appeals held that the same statutory language requires de novo review. This Court should resolve this conflict, affirm its prior rulings by holding that a substantial evidence standard of appellate review is appropriate in

this case, and hold that substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding that the Department unreasonably denied consent to sublease.

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