FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/16/2019 3:15 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97682-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NORTHWEST ALLOYS, INC., and MILLENNIUM BULK TERMINALS-LONGVIEW, LLC,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES, and THE HONORABLE HILARY S. FRANZ, and COLUMBIA RIVERKEEPER, WASHINGTON ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, and SIERRA CLUB,

Respondents.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES' AND THE HONORABLE HILARY S. FRANZ'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

NWA and Millennium argue that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with precedent, and involves a matter of substantial public interest supporting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), 13.4(b)(2), and 13.4(b)(4). As explained below, the decision does neither. The Court of Appeals applied long-standing Washington precedent in determining the appropriate standard of review under RCW 79.02.030, and in subsequently evaluating DNR's decision to deny NWA's and Millennium's request for consent to a sublease under that standard. DNR, in considering Millennium as a proposed subtenant, requested financial and other business documents. DNR's actions under the lease were administrative, not quasi-judicial, and thus the Court of Appeals correctly applied an arbitrary and capricious standard under RCW 79.02.030. Moreover, the Court of Appeals correctly evaluated the reasonableness language of Section 9.1 of the lease under Ernst Home Center v. Sato, 80 Wn. App. 473, 486, 910 P.2d 486 (1996). In doing so, it did not create separate standards for the state and private parties; rather, the Court merely evaluated the lease as it was required to: from the standpoint of a similarly situated landlord to DNR. Finally, the unique facts of this case, which involve a tenant that repeatedly refused to provide financial and other business information regarding its proposed subtenant, despite unambiguous lease terms requiring it to do so, do not rise to the level of a substantial public interest warranting review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Precedent and Therefore Does Not Warrant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(2).

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with either the precedent of this Court or other appellate precedent. At the heart of this case is the unambiguous language of Section 9.1 of the lease, which provides that, in evaluating a proposed sublessee, DNR "may consider, among other items, the proposed transferee's financial condition, business reputation and experience, the nature of the proposed transferee's business, . . . and such other factors as may reasonably bear upon the suitability of the transferee" CP 1891-92; AR 001546-47. While DNR's consent shall not be "unreasonably conditioned or withheld," it is the obligation of the tenant (NWA) to provide the requested information. *Id.* ("[t]enant *shall submit* information regarding any proposed transferee to State at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of the proposed transfer.") (emphasis added).

NWA and Millennium appealed DNR's decision to deny Millennium's sublease under RCW 79.02.030. That statute provides for "de novo" review of DNR's leasing decisions based on the agency's record, and, as such, the Court of Appeals correctly evaluated Section 9.1 of the lease under the standard of review of RCW 79.02.030. As discussed below,

the Court of Appeals correctly applied the law and created no conflict warranting this Court's review.

1. The Court of Appeals Applied Long-Standing Precedent In Evaluating DNR's Sublease Denial and Did Not Create Differing Standards.

In evaluating the terms of Section 9.1 of the lease, the Court of Appeals correctly applied precedent and concluded that DNR's denial of the sublease request was reasonable, and therefore not arbitrary and capricious. Slip op. at 18. Contrary to the assertions of NWA and Millennium, the Court did not establish separate standards or a "new doctrine" for DNR. Pet. at 7. As the Court stated, a lease term in Washington that prohibits a landlord from "unreasonably" withholding consent requires a reviewing court to determine "whether a reasonably prudent person *in the position of the landlord* would have refused consent." Slip op. at 19, n.1 citing *Ernst*, 80 Wn. App. at 486 (emphasis added). This is the correct standard. *See also 224 Westlake LLC v. Engstrom Props., LLC*, 169 Wn. App. 700, 721, 281 P.3d 693 (2012).

Under *Ernst*, the Court of Appeals was required to view the reasonableness of DNR's decision from the perspective of one in DNR's position. Thus, the Court necessarily had to evaluate the reasonableness of DNR's denial in the context of the statutes and constitutional provisions under which DNR operates. This includes RCW 79.02.030, as well as

DNR's public trust obligations, and other provisions of the aquatic lands statutes such as RCW 79.105.030 and RCW 79.105.210(3)-(4). Moreover, the lease itself incorporates the public trust doctrine under Section 1.1(b), which states "[t]his Lease is subject to all . . . rights of the public under the Public Trust Doctrine." CP 1876; AR 001531.

As the manager of the State's aquatic lands, "DNR executes its leasing authority with a view toward the State's duty to protect the public trust." *Pope Res. v. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 190 Wn.2d 744, 754, 418 P.3d 90 (2018). The public trust doctrine is rooted in the constitution under art. XVII, § 1, and "protects public ownership interests in certain uses of navigable waters and underlying lands, including navigation, commerce, fisheries, recreation, and environmental quality." *Id.* Because DNR has legal responsibilities to consider environmental values in its leasing decisions, the Court of Appeals correctly looked at those responsibilities in determining whether DNR acted properly under the lease. *See* slip op. at 16-17.

Metropolitan Park³ and similar cases cited by NWA and Millennium are distinguishable because none of those cases involved DNR carrying out its management discretion in denying a sublease on

³ Metro. Park Dist. of Tacoma v. DNR, 85 Wn.2d 821, 539 P.2d 854 (1975).

state-owned aquatic lands. Pet. at 11. See Metro. Park, 85 Wn.2d at 825-27 (State transfer of use deed was not ultra vires, and equitable estoppel could apply to prevent cancellation of deed); State ex rel. Gillette, 4 44 Wn. at 438-43 (Mandamus action against state official to compel issuance of a warrant for payment); and State ex rel. Wash. Paving Co., 5 90 Wn. at 451 (Mandamus action for payment of highway construction costs).

DNR, in administering Section 9.1 of the lease, denied the sublease request for NWA's and Millennium's repeated refusals to provide requested financial and other business information. CP 1850-52; AR 001509-11. These facts are different from the facts of the cases cited by NWA and Millennium, and do not create any conflict that would support review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or 13.4(b)(2).

2. Arbitrary and Capricious Is the Correct Standard of Review Under RCW 79.02.030. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined That DNR's Actions Were Not Quasi-Judicial.

While NWA and Millennium argue that substantial evidence is the correct standard of review for the trial court's order under the "de novo" language of RCW 79.02.030, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected these arguments and applied an arbitrary and capricious standard directly to

⁴ State ex rel. Gillette v. Clausen, 44 Wn. 437, 87 P. 498 (1906).

⁵ State ex rel. Wash. Paving Co. v. Clausen, 90 Wn. 450, 156 P. 554 (1916).

DNR's record. The appropriate standard of review under RCW 79.02.030 depends upon whether or not the agency is acting in an administrative or a quasi-judicial capacity. *See Floyd v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 44 Wn.2d 560, 570-71, 269 P.2d 563 (1954). If the agency is acting in an administrative capacity, then the standard of review is arbitrary and capricious. *See Francisco v. Bd. of Dirs.*, 85 Wn.2d 575, 578, 537 P.2d 789 (1975).

Although RCW 79.02.030 provides for "de novo" review on the agency record, when courts have examined similar statutes, they have construed such "de novo" review language to mean "arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law." *Household Fin. Corp. v. State*, 40 Wn.2d 451, 454-58, 244 P.2d 260 (1952) (statute granting court de novo trial on denial of license). Based on constitutional principles of separation of powers, courts will not substitute their own judgment for that of an administrative agency exercising legislative or executive functions, and the Legislature cannot impose non-judicial functions on the court. *Id.* at 455-57 (holding unconstitutional a statute granting the court de novo trial and review over banking supervisor's denial of a business license).

Exercising the discretion the Legislature vested in DNR to determine whether, and under what conditions, the use of state-owned aquatic lands should be authorized is an administrative function, and not a

quasi-judicial function. See Hood Canal Sand & Gravel, LLC v. Goldmark, 195 Wn. App. 284, 307-08, 381 P.3d 95 (2016) (DNR's issuance of easement was not quasi-judicial for purposes of statutory writ of review). The Court of Appeals was correct to apply an "arbitrary and capricious" standard under RCW 79.02.030, and this standard was entirely consistent with precedent. See, e.g., Malmo v. Case, 28 Wn.2d 828, 835, 184 P.2d 40 (1947) ("under the contracts, the Commissioner . . . had the power to grant, or refuse to grant, extensions. His refusal to do so was in entire good faith. He did not act arbitrarily or capriciously").

NWA and Millennium erroneously rely upon Yaw v. Walla Walla School District No. 140, 106 Wn.2d 408, 413-14, 722 P.2d 803 (1986), for the proposition that administering a contract is a judicial, and not an administrative function. Pet. at 16-17. The holding of Yaw is not as broad as Millennium and NWA assert; Yaw did not hold that all agency decisions involving a contract are necessarily judicial action. Yaw specifically dealt

⁶ The Court has recognized this fact for well over a century. See State v. Bd. of State Land Comm'rs, 23 Wash. 700, 705-06, 63 P. 532, 533-34 (1901) ("For the reason that in leasing the [harbor area] in question the board acts only in an administrative or executive capacity, we think the writ in this case was improperly issued, and must be set aside").

⁷ See also Francisco, 85 Wn.2d at 579 (four factors a court looks at to determine if an agency's action was administrative or quasi-judicial are whether: (1) the court could have been charged in the first instance with the responsibility of making the decision; (2) the function of the agency is one that the courts have historically performed; (3) the agency performs functions on inquiry, investigation, declaration and enforcement of liabilities as they stand on present or past facts under existing laws; and (4) the agency's action is comparable to the ordinary business of courts).

with a school board's hiring decision in light of a collective bargaining agreement, recognizing that "[t]he courts in Washington have long enforced contractual rights in employment relationships." *Yaw*, 106 Wn.2d at 416. Unlike the facts of *Yaw*, Courts have not historically managed the State's aquatic lands. *See* slip op. at 16.

NWA and Millennium agree that, if a statute requires "de novo" review, then review is under an arbitrary, capricious, or unlawful standard if the agency was acting in an administrative capacity. Pet. at 16. This is exactly the capacity in which DNR was acting when it denied the sublease to Millennium. The "de novo" review requirements of RCW 79.02.030 are therefore clear, and do not warrant additional review by the Court.

3. The Court of Appeals Correctly Declined to Apply the Substantial Evidence Standard.

Despite NWA's and Millennium's assertions to the contrary, "the appellate court stands in the same position as the trial court where the record consists only of affidavits, memoranda of law, and other documentary evidence." *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 252, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). *See also Dolan v. King Cty.*, 172 Wn.2d 299, 310-11, 258 P.3d 20 (2011). The Court of Appeals properly reviewed DNR's record directly, and because the trial court did not weigh evidence or resolve issues of witness credibility, the Court of Appeals was correct

that the substantial evidence standard does not apply. *See Dolan*, 172 Wn.2d at 310-11.

Millennium and NWA rely on inapposite case law to support their argument that the Court of Appeals should have applied the substantial evidence standard. Pet. at 13-14. For example, *Hendrickson v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 343, 409 P.3d 1162 (2018), involved L&I statutes and determinations of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (BIIA). The BIIA acts in a judicial capacity under RCW Title 51 when it determines whether claimants are entitled to compensation. *See Floyd*, 44 Wn.2d at 578. Courts willingly accept a less deferential standard of review for quasi-judicial agency decisions because this would not violate any constitutional separation of powers. *Id.* (trial court authorized to conduct trial de novo of workers' compensation award). These decisions under Title 51 simply do not apply to the administrative functions DNR carries out in managing leases on state-owned aquatic lands, and do not require the Court to grant review.

B. This Case Does Not Present a Matter of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

NWA and Millennium conceded at the Court of Appeals that Millennium does not have sufficient financial assets on its own to meet the requirements of the lease. *See* Response to Appellants' Opening Briefs

at 31. They do not dispute that they never provided the financial and other business documents DNR requested, despite a clear contractual requirement that NWA do so. Moreover, they assigned no error to the trial court's conclusion that DNR's denial of their sublease request was based on "legitimate dollar concerns on the part of DNR." CP 17691. These facts on their own are sufficient for the Court to deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

What this case presents is a tenant in NWA, with a history of lax oversight of a past subtenant that caused extensive environmental damage to the State's aquatic lands, seeking to construct the largest coal terminal on the west coast, using a proposed subtenant in Millennium with a history of deceit to avoid environmental review for this very project. As the Court of Appeals correctly stated:

DNR was also acutely aware of the damage a negligent subtenant could inflict on the sensitive aquatic lands, given its recent negative experience with NWA's prior subtenant, Chinook. Millennium had intentionally misrepresented the scope of its plans for the property in 2011. Millennium sought to build, operate, and maintain the largest coal export terminal on the west coast. Such a project posed significant financial demands and high environmental risks if Millennium followed in the previous subtenant's footsteps with lax oversight from NWA. Accordingly, DNR had significant, well founded reasons for carefully considering the financial condition and business reputation of Millennium before consenting to sublease.

Slip op. at 18-19.

1. The Facts of This Case Are Unique. Northwest Alloys Repeatedly Refused to Comply with the Explicit Terms of Its Lease.

The unique facts of this case do not make it a matter of substantial public interest for purposes of review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Though NWA and Millennium argue that the Court of Appeals' decision undermines society's reliance interest in the performance of promises, Pet. at 7, the reality is that NWA does not want to be bound by the unambiguous lease terms to which it agreed.

Under Section 9.1 of the lease, DNR is given discretion to request reasonable financial and business information on a proposed subtenant, and NWA is required to provide this information. CP 1891-92; AR 001546-47. Indeed, "DNR's requests for information from Millennium were not so narrow as to preclude Millennium from providing financial information it believed would be helpful to DNR in understanding Millennium's financial condition." Slip op. at 21. Based on DNR's repeated requests for this information, "Millennium knew what DNR's concerns were; Millennium could have provided its parent company's information if it believed it would be helpful in answering DNR's inquiry. Instead, *NWA refused to respond at all.*" *Id.* (emphasis added).

Simply put, this case is not about ensuring the public's reliance on contracts with the State; it is about not letting one commercial tenant of the

State ignore unambiguous contractual language that is there to protect the State's aquatic lands. *See Pope*, 190 Wn.2d at 755 (DNR "executes its leasing authority with a view towards the State's duty to protect the public trust."). NWA's and Millennium's repeated refusals to comply with DNR's reasonable requests under the terms of the lease are therefore not of such broad-reaching public concern to necessitate the Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. The Court of Appeals Was Correct That an Agency Cannot Contract Itself Out of Its Constitutional and Statutory Duties.

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